

Ph.D. in Higher Education Handbook

2024-2025

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

Graduate School of Education

10 Seminary Place New Brunswick, NJ 08901

gse.rutgers.edu

Table of Contents

ABOUT RUTGERS UNIVERSITY

| School of Graduate Studies Mission | . 1 |
|------------------------------------|-----|
| Academic Integrity | . 2 |
| Code of Student Conduct | . 2 |

PH.D. IN HIGHER EDUCATION PROGRAM

| Mission | 3 |
|---|----|
| Learning Goals | 3 |
| Curriculum Overview | 4 |
| Degree Requirements | 4 |
| Earning the M.A. in Higher Education | 5 |
| Faculty Advisor and Advisee Expectations | 5 |
| Change of Faculty Advisor Procedures | |
| Ph.D. in Higher Education Road Map | 6 |
| Year 1 | 6 |
| Year 2 | 8 |
| Year 3 | 8 |
| Year 4+ | 9 |
| Enrollment | 10 |
| Registering for Classes | 10 |
| Access to Higher Education core courses as a non-matriculated/non-degree student. | 10 |
| Full-time and Part-time Status | 10 |
| Enrollment Verification | 10 |
| 7-Year Time Limitation | 10 |
| Withdrawal or Leave of Absence | 11 |
| Readmission or Restoration of Active Status | 11 |
| Registering in Independent Study in Higher Education | 11 |
| Registering for Field Experience in Higher Education | 12 |
| Grading | 12 |
| Satisfactory Academic Progress Policy | 13 |
| Transferring Prior Graduate Coursework | 14 |
| The Qualifying Examination | 15 |
| The Dissertation Process | 21 |
| Course Evaluations and Student Progress Evaluations | 24 |

DOCTORAL STUDENT SUPPORT

| Student Financial Support | 24 |
|--|----|
| Graduate Fellowships | 24 |
| Graduate Assistantships | |
| Teaching | 25 |
| Grants and Fellowships for Continuing Students | 25 |
| Tuition Bill Payment | 26 |
| Student Health Insurance | 26 |
| Grievances and Appeals | 26 |
| Academic Appeals | 26 |
| Grievances | 27 |
| Student FAQs | 28 |

RESEARCH AT RUTGERS UNIVERSITY

| Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval and Human Subjects Protection Certification | 29 |
|---|----|
| Ph.D. in Higher Education Program Seminar Series | 30 |
| Conference Presentations and Scholarly Opportunities | 30 |

DIRECTORY

| Higher Education Program Faculty | 31 |
|---|------|
| Program, Staff, and Administrative Contacts | . 33 |

ABOUT RUTGERS UNIVERSITY

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES MISSION

The School of Graduate Studies (SGS) provides masters and doctoral studies and advocates for graduate education and graduate students on the New Brunswick Campus. Graduate education provides students with advanced training for their chosen fields, developing leaders who will contribute to knowledge through original research, teaching future generations, and solving significant problems for society.

The School of Graduate Studies' mission is to pursue excellence in graduate education and the welfare of its students. The school accomplishes its mission in three ways:

- 1. The School of Graduate Studies promotes high quality in graduate education and works to improve the effectiveness of graduate education. It maintains rules governing requirements for the degree, oversight of admissions standards, and reviewing and approving curricular initiatives and changes. To assess the effectiveness of graduate education, it collects data on current graduate student support, external awards of current students, student success within programs, and placement and career advancement of its graduates. It provides topical and timely support to assist students in progressing and succeeding, through flexibility in applying standard rules and various forms of financial assistance and through competitive support of outstanding students and support for training grants and other funding initiatives. Through GradFund, it assists students to succeed in pursuing external fellowships and grants. The School of Graduate Studies keeps abreast of trends, best practices, and comparative data on graduate education through multiple memberships and various forms of participation in national organizations devoted to aspects of graduate education. It promotes and oversees involvement in local and international consortia and exchanges. By disseminating best practices and results of assessments of activities in graduate education, the School of Graduate Studies works with individual degree programs to improve the effectiveness of graduate education to enhance mentorship, reduce degree completion time, and increase completion rates. The School of Graduate Studies is an ongoing source of advice and assistance for Graduate Program Directors, faculty members, and staff on the full range of issues they confront in conducting the everyday work of graduate education.
- 2. The School of Graduate Studies seeks to enhance the quality of student life for graduate students by serving as an advocate for their needs in such matters as the development of policy and planning pertaining to housing, dining, facilities, recreation, health and psychological services, and other aspects of student life and procedures governing issues of graduate student conduct and status. The School of Graduate Studies also seeks to enhance student welfare by directly providing ombudsperson and conflict resolution services, the Teaching Assistant Project, general guidance and assistance with registration, degree attainment, financial support, and insurance, other matters pertaining to persistence to degree.
- 3. The School of Graduate Studies actively supports efforts to diversify the student community in graduate education. It does so through its summer program for undergraduate students from diverse academic backgrounds, through recruitment efforts, through the financial support of students that supplements the funding available from other sources, through advocacy for international scholars, and through measures that underpin a supportive environment for students from all walks of life.

ACADEMIC INTEGRITY POLICY

According to *Rutgers University's Academic Integrity* policy,

The principles of academic integrity require that a student:

- make sure that all work submitted in a course, academic research, or other activity is the student's own and created without the aid of impermissible technologies, materials, or collaborations.
- properly acknowledge and cite all use of the ideas, results, images, or words of others.
- properly acknowledge all contributors to a given piece of work.
- obtain all data or results by ethical means and report them accurately without suppressing any results inconsistent with the student's interpretation or conclusions.
- treat all other students ethically, respecting their integrity and right to pursue their educational goals without interference. This principle requires that a student neither facilitate academic dishonesty by others nor obstruct their academic progress.
- uphold the ethical standards and professional code of conduct in the field for which the student is preparing.

Adherence to these principles is necessary to ensure that:

- proper credit for ideas, words, images, results, and other scholarly work, no matter the form or media, is attributed to the appropriate individual(s).
- all student research and work are fairly evaluated, and no student has an inappropriate advantage over others.
- the academic and ethical development of all students is fostered.
- the reputation of the University for integrity, ethics, scholarship, and professionalism is maintained and enhanced.

Students are responsible for understanding the principles of academic integrity and abiding by them in all aspects of their work at the University. Students are also encouraged to help educate fellow students about academic integrity and to bring all alleged violations of academic integrity they encounter to the attention of the appropriate authorities.

Please go to <u>https://academicintegrity.rutgers.edu/</u> or the full policy and information about procedures for adjudicating alleged academic integrity violations, levels of academic integrity violations, and academic integrity sanctions.

CODE OF STUDENT CONDUCT

According to the University Student Code of Conduct,

The University Code of Student Conduct was created to ensure the safety and security of the Rutgers community. This document is intended to ensure students and organizations are aware of their rights and responsibilities within the conduct process, and to uphold the integrity and values of Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey. When students choose to enroll at Rutgers University, they are encouraged to respect its values.

This policy applies to conduct that occurs on University premises; at University sponsored activities; at functions, activities, or events hosted by students or recognized student

organizations, on or off campus; and other off-campus conduct that affects a University interest (as defined above). Each student is responsible for their conduct from the time of application through the actual awarding of a degree or certificate, even if that conduct occurs before classes begin or after a semester is complete

Individual academic programs may have additional ethical rules, professional requirements and professional standards of conduct. Academic programs are empowered to address deviations from acceptable professional standards of conduct. Any procedures a program puts in place to address deviations from their professional standards must include, at a minimum, notice to the student of the issue and some opportunity for the student to respond to the information before a decision is made.

For the complete University Code of Conduct, please go to <u>https://studentconduct.rutgers.edu/processes/university-code-student-conduct</u>.

PH.D. IN HIGHER EDUCATION PROGRAM

MISSION

The Ph.D. in Higher Education at Rutgers University offers a focused study of the complexities of colleges and universities, their missions, contexts, challenges, and successes. This interdisciplinary degree program brings together distinguished higher education scholars representing the Graduate School of Education (GSE), the Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy (BSPPP), the School of Arts and Sciences (SAS), the School of Communication and Information (SCI), the School of Environmental and Biological Sciences (SEBS), and the School of Management and Labor Relations (SMLR). Affiliated faculty members are higher education experts in the fields of, for example, education, law, communication, organizational studies, public policy, and economics.

The Ph.D. in Higher Education program prepares higher education researchers who will take their scholarship, knowledge, and research skills into a range of higher education settings such as universities and colleges, state or federal governing and coordinating boards, independent research and policy organizations, and foundations.

LEARNING GOALS

The following learning outcomes inform the Ph.D. in Higher Education curriculum. Graduates of the Ph.D. in Higher Education program will:

- Conduct original, rigorous research and interpret and evaluate findings from other research studies.
- Be knowledgeable about higher education organizations; systems; governance; leadership; analysis and planning; research, assessment, and evaluation; and communication.
- Understand current and developing trends and issues facing colleges and universities.
- Understand and effectively negotiate the complexities of higher education in terms of institutional type, control, contexts, stakeholders, and constituencies.
- Provide leadership, insight, and expertise at the institutional or related higher education settings in which they work.

CURRICULUM OVERVIEW

Degree Requirements

Seventy-two credit hours include higher education core courses, electives, research methods core courses, and dissertation research, as noted in the following sections.

Higher Education Core*

| 16:507:510 | Higher Education Structures and Governance | 3 credits |
|------------|--|-----------|
| 16:507:515 | Diversity and Multiculturalism in Higher Education | 3 credits |
| 16:507:520 | Higher Education Law | 3 credits |
| 16:507:525 | Economics and Finance of Higher Education | 3 credits |
| 16:507:530 | Higher Education Leadership | 3 credits |
| 16:507:535 | History of Higher Education in the United States | 3 credits |

18 credits total

15 credits total

* At the faculty advisor's discretion, up to two Higher Education core courses may be replaced by six credit hours of targeted, substantive, doctoral-level coursework tailored to the student's research interests and/or career goals. Any deviations from the Higher Education Core must be stipulated on the student's **Plan of Study** form, with the faculty advisor's approval noted.

Additional Graduate Coursework/Electives

Selected courses in consultation with advisor

Pre-dissertation research courses that may be used for elective credit:16:507:600Independent Study in Higher Education1-6 credits16:507:550Field Experience in Higher Education*1-3 credits* Up to 3 credits may be used to complete an approved field experience (16:507:550 Field1-3 creditsExperience in Higher Education) under the supervision of a program-affiliated faculty member. The completed, approved Field Experience in Higher Education Contract must be submitted to Ph.D.Program Coordinator in order to register for 16:507:550 credits.

Rutgers Graduate Writing Courses (0 credits required)

Program faculty strongly recommend that all students enroll in graduate writing courses during (at least) the first two semesters of program coursework.

Research Core**

| Introductory Statistics (doctoral level) | 3 credits |
|--|-----------|
| Introductory Qualitative Methods (doctoral level)*** | 3 credits |
| Advanced Statistics OR Advanced Qualitative Methods (doctoral level) | 3 credits |
| One additional research methods or methodology course (doctoral | 3 credits |
| level) 16:507:695 Research and Dissertation Seminar | 3 credits |
| · · | |

15 credits total

** At the faculty advisor's discretion, up to six credits of the 15-credit minimum Research Core may be replaced with six credit hours of targeted, substantive, doctoral-level coursework tailored to the student's research interests and/or career goals. In addition, the student's dissertation committee may require the completion of additional methodology or research methods coursework to ensure adequate preparation for the qualifying examination and/or the dissertation. Any deviations from the

Research Core (above) must be listed on the student's **Plan of Study**, with the faculty advisor's approval noted.

*** The Qualitative Methods sequence for Ph. D. students is Spring-Fall.

Independent Dissertation Research

16:507:700, 701, 702 **Research in Higher Education**

24 credits total

After advancement to candidacy (passing the qualifying examination), students will enroll in **Research in Higher Education** every semester they work on their dissertation. Students may enroll in a maximum of six (6) total credits of **Research in Higher Education** prior to advancement to candidacy with permission of their faculty advisor, such as the semester they schedule to take their qualifying exam. This maximum is neither negotiable nor flexible.

How to register: Each section of **Research in Higher Education** during fall, spring, and summer terms is assigned to a (full) Member of the Higher Education program faculty. Students should register ONLY in their faculty advisor's section. To register for Research in Higher Education credits, students must complete the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Registration Request Form** and submit it to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator.

<u>Program-level Notes:</u> No more than 24 credits of coursework outside the Rutgers School of Graduate Studies (i.e., School 16) may be applied toward the minimum 72 credits required for the Ph.D. in Higher Education.

Earning the M.A. in Higher Education

If, due to unforeseen circumstances, Ph.D. in Higher Education students may decide not to pursue the Ph.D. or not continue in the program, the Master's Degree in Higher Education will be awarded if all *associated credits* have been completed and the *comprehensive examination or equivalent* has been completed successfully. *Associated credits* include 18 credits of Higher Education core courses, six credits of Additional Graduate Coursework, and six credits of the Research Core. In addition, the *comprehensive exam or equivalent* may include successfully passing qualifying exams or completion of a thesis project.

This master's degree option is available ONLY to enrolled Ph.D. in Higher Education students. Applications for admission to (only) the M.A. in Higher Education will not be reviewed.

FACULTY ADVISOR AND ADVISEE EXPECTATIONS

In general, *advisors* are the first line of assistance with advisees' problems or concerns and the principal degree program resource for their advisees. In virtually all circumstances, advisees are expected to initiate contact with the advisor as needed or as required by the Ph.D. in Higher Education program (student progress meetings, etc.)

Advisees should keep lines of communication open with their advisors and keep them updated on accomplishments, opportunities, and potential concerns. In addition, advisees should take the lead in cultivating and maintaining a productive working relationship with their advisors.

When students first meet with their assigned faculty advisor--and at ANY time when they are considering changing advisors--they are <u>STRONGLY</u> encouraged to have candid discussions

with the current faculty advisor and prospective faculty advisor(s) to maximize the likelihood of a productive advisor/advisee fit. Advisees may find the following questions and topics (plus others) helpful to discuss with current as well as prospective faculty advisors:

- 1. Generally speaking, what are your expectations of your Ph.D. advisees? (Students should be prepared to discuss their general expectations of a faculty advisor.)
- 2. In what ways do our topical and/or methodological interests and expertise align, diverge, and/or complement each other? How might these convergences or divergences affect your advising? Are there current or future opportunities to work with you on research or other scholarly projects?
- 3. Generally speaking, how/where do you prefer meeting with your advisees--in your campus office, elsewhere on campus, over a meal, over coffee, other?
- 4. Do you prefer to meet with advisees during weekday business hours, evenings, or weekends?
- 5. How far in advance should I ordinarily plan to schedule a meeting with you? Is there another person I should contact to schedule a meeting with you?
- 6. Do you have any planned, upcoming sabbatical leaves or other absences? If so, how do you anticipate working with your advisees during those times? What other responsibilities do you have (e.g., administrative appointment, consulting work) that may curtail your availability as an advisor?
- 7. What is the best way to contact you when I have quick questions--email, office phone, home phone, cell phone, text, stopping by your office, meeting you before or after a class you're teaching? How should I NOT plan to contact you (e.g., text, cell phone)?
- 8. After reaching out to you requesting a response, how long does it usually take to hear from you? What's the best way for your advisees to follow up on such requests appropriately?

Change of Faculty Advisor Procedures

Students must report changes of faculty advisor via the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Change of Advisor Form** within two weeks of the change. At three points during the Ph.D. in Higher Education program, students will select or affirm their faculty advisor:

During coursework prior to admission to candidacy. Students may change faculty advisors following conversations with the current and prospective faculty advisors.

When constituting a qualifying examination committee. Students select a committee chair/advisor for this process. The Chair should be the student's current faculty advisor, and this committee dissolves following the successful completion of the qualifying examination process.

Prior to commencing the dissertation proposal. Students select a faculty advisor to chair the dissertation committee and oversee dissertation proposal writing, dissertation completion, and dissertation defense processes.

PH.D. IN HIGHER EDUCATION ROAD MAP

Year 1

Upon acceptance into the Ph.D. in Higher Education Program, students are assigned an initial faculty advisor before beginning coursework. Ordinarily, this advisor will work with the student

up to and through the qualifying examination process. However, students may change faculty advisor upon consultation with both the current and the prospective advisor. Complete the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Change of Advisor Form** and submit it to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator within two weeks of the advisor change.

In late August, before the start of the academic year, an orientation session will be offered for new first-year students. The orientation will include introductions to faculty and their interests, an overview of the program and curriculum, meeting with advisors, and interactions with current students.

During the first semester, students should be registered for core courses. Additionally, students are encouraged to engage in the higher education scholarly community by attending Ph.D. in Higher Education seminars and other events, allowing students to hear colleagues speak on a variety of relevant subjects in a more personalized forum. These seminars also provide informal networking opportunities.

During the second semester of the first year, students should continue to enroll in core courses and one research methods course, with the additional possibility of enrolling in some elective courses (must be approved by advisor). Additionally, students should explore predissertation research or field experience opportunities. Students should reach out faculty/staff involved in research that may be conducive to an independent study experience. Once an independent study or field experience is arranged, submit the completed and approved **Ph.D. in Higher Education Independent Study in Higher Education Contract** or the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Field Experience in Higher Education Contract** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator.

By the beginning of April, all Ph.D. in Higher Education students complete the **Individual Development Plan** (IDP), along with the **HE Plan of Study** and CV as attachments. This electronic form and documents are routed to their faculty advisor and the Graduate Program Director for review and approval. Students must schedule a meeting with their advisors to review the IDP and amend—as needed—the student's **HE Plan of Study**, as well as discuss how and when the student will fulfill coursework requirements and potential pre-dissertation research opportunities. This process allows students to reflect on their academic accomplishments and determine goals for the upcoming summer and academic year with faculty advisors.

Year 1 (or equivalent: 0-18 credits)

Coursework

- □ Complete majority of HE Core courses
- □ Complete (ideally) three credits of research methods coursework
- □ Enroll in one graduate writing course each term

Advising

- D Meet with faculty advisor at least once per semester
- Discuss pre-dissertation research opportunities, potential independent studies, and prospective transfer credits with advisor
- □ Complete the Individual Development Plan (<u>https://sgs-studentidp.rutgers.edu/</u>), which includes submitting your **HE Plan of Study** and CV as attachments. Meet with advisor by the end of April.

Administrative Tasks

- Complete appropriate CITI training modules if not already certified by Rutgers
- □ If applicable, submit paperwork to transfer credits (see" Transferring Prior Graduate Coursework" for procedures)

Program Enhancement Activities

- Attend Higher Education Seminar Series presentations and other scholarly events
- □ Consider joining program- or school-level committee(s)
- Consider submitting a scholarly proposal or attending a conference (e.g., ASHE, AERA, ACPA, NASPA, etc.) at the end of the first spring semester
- Become familiar with sources of student travel support
- Consider a summer Independent Study or Field Experience
- Year 2 (or equivalent: 19-36 credits)

Coursework

- □ Complete remaining core HE courses, plus the majority of research methods and additional graduate coursework
- □ Independent Study strongly recommended if not already completed
- Consider enrolling in graduate writing courses each term

Advising

- Meet with faculty advisor at least once per semester
- □ Revisit **HE Plan of Study** with advisor, make necessary updates, and forward revisions to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator
- Discuss qualifying examination requirements with advisor
 - Consider options for qualifying examination committee members
 - As applicable, work with your advisor to schedule qualifying examination (see "The Qualifying Examination" handbook section for more details)
- In the spring semester, Complete the Individual Development Plan (<u>https://sqs-studentidp.rutgers.edu/</u>), which includes submitting your HE Plan of Study and CV as attachments. Meet with your advisor by the end of April.

Administrative Tasks

□ If attending and/or presenting at a conference, identify travel support sources and apply

Program Enhancement Activities

- Attend seminars and other HE and campus-wide lectures and events
- □ Submit manuscripts and/or conference proposals to present research
- □ Seek out opportunities to gain teaching experience
- □ Seek out fellowship and grant opportunities, such as making an appointment with GradFund
- Year 3 (or equivalent: 37-54 credits)

Coursework and Requirements

- □ If the qualifying examination is not yet completed:
 - Schedule and complete examination

- Forward required materials to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator (see "The Qualifying Examination" handbook section)
- □ Enroll in **Research and Dissertation Seminar** the semester following successful completion of the qualifying exam
- Complete dissertation proposal. Submit requisite information to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator at least three weeks before the defense date (see "The Dissertation Process" handbook section)
- □ Enroll in **Research in Higher Education** credits while working on the dissertation proposal and during dissertation research
- □ Consider enrolling in a writing course(s)

Advising Tasks

- □ Meet with faculty advisor at least once per semester
- □ In the spring semester, Complete the Individual Development Plan (<u>https://sgs-studentidp.rutgers.edu/</u>), which includes submitting your **HE Plan of Study** and CV as attachments. Meet with your advisor by the end of April.

Program Enhancement Activities:

- Attend seminars and other HE and campus-wide lectures and events
- □ Submit manuscripts and/or conference proposals to present research
- □ Seek out opportunities to gain teaching experience
- Seek out fellowship and grant opportunities to support dissertation research, such as making an appointment with GradFund

Year 4+ (or equivalent: 55-72 credits minimum)

Coursework and Requirements:

- □ Continue dissertation work
- □ Consider enrolling in graduate writing course(s)
- □ Submit dissertation to advisor and, upon advisor's approval, to dissertation committee members for review
- Schedule dissertation defense. Submit requisite information to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator at least three weeks before the defense date (see "The Dissertation Process" handbook section)

Advising:

- □ In the spring semester, Complete the Individual Development Plan (<u>https://sgs-studentidp.rutgers.edu</u>/), which includes submitting your **HE Plan of Study** and CV as attachments. Meet with your advisor by the end of March.
- □ Seek advice on post-defense revisions to the dissertation

Administrative Tasks:

- □ File SGS Title Page and final approved dissertation
- □ Complete SGS Post-dissertation processes
- Submit Diploma Application: <u>https://grad.admissions.rutgers.edu/Diploma/Login.aspx</u>

Program Enhancement Activities:

□ Submit manuscripts and/or conference proposal(s) to present research

ENROLLMENT

Registering for Classes

After accepting admission, new students receive a "New Student Guide" from Rutgers. This guide explains parking, obtaining ID cards, creating a NetID, and other useful information and how to register. Students can register for classes following their official acceptance of admission. New students are strongly encouraged to visit their faculty advisor before registering for classes.

Students will use their Rutgers NetID to register each semester on the Rutgers WebReg <u>website</u>. Some classes require instructor permission to enroll or have other restrictions. In these cases, students must complete the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Registration Form** and submit to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator to register.

Access to Higher Education Core Courses

Students enrolled in other graduate programs, non-matriculated students, and non-degree students may enroll in a maximum of nine (9) credits of Higher Education Core courses.

Full-time and Part-time Status

To be considered full-time, students must be enrolled for nine credits per semester. Students enrolled in fewer than nine credits in a semester are considered part-time.

Note: All Ph.D. in Higher Education students who have passed the qualifying examination and are engaged in dissertation research must register for at least one credit of **Research in Higher Education** per semester until they have completed the degree, even if this results in accumulated research credits beyond the minimum required for the degree.

Enrollment Verification

Students at the dissertation stage of the program do NOT need to register for at least six credits of dissertation research to meet the student loan requirement of at least half-time status. Students at the dissertation stage who are enrolled in at least one dissertation research credit may maintain eligibility for student loans. Students must complete the <u>Enrollment Certification</u> of <u>Doctoral Students</u> and submit it to the Registrar's Office to verify official status.

7-Year Time Limitation

Ordinarily, students have a maximum of seven calendar years to complete the Ph.D. in Higher Education Program. Students who are in their seventh year and will not complete the program by the end of the spring term must complete the **SGS Application for Extension of Time**. This form is available online as a supplement to the online **Individual Development Plan**. The student completes this form as part of the IDP in spring semester, which is then submitted for review to student's faculty advisor and Graduate Program Director for approval.

Students who have not completed requirements for graduation after being enrolled in the degree program for ten calendar years may request another extension. However, SGS approval may be more difficult to obtain.

Withdrawal or Leave of Absence

Students in good academic standing (see Satisfactory Academic Progress policy) who wish to withdraw or take a leave of absence from the program must contact the Graduate Program Director and complete **Ph.D. in Higher Education Withdrawal – Permanent or Temporary Leave Form** to Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator. Students who have not passed the qualifying examination may register as "matriculation continued" during the leave. However, students who have been admitted to candidacy (i.e., passed the qualifying examination) may no longer register as "matriculation continued." Instead, they must register for at least one credit of Dissertation Research per academic term. Students may contact SGS about possible exceptions in cases with extraordinary circumstances.

Students who leave the degree program without officially withdrawing from their courses will receive failing grades in each course. The date on which the Registrar's Office receives the written notice governs the academic and financial consequences of withdrawal. Ordinarily, students who leave the degree program after the 12th week of classes (fall or spring semester) are considered officially enrolled and will receive final grades for the semester.

Readmission or Restoration of Active Status

If the student misses one or more semesters of registration and wishes to resume matriculation in the Ph.D. Higher Education program, they will need to apply for readmission to the program. For students who have not successfully completed and passed the Qualifying Exam, they will need to complete the **SGS Application for Readmission Form** and forward it to the Graduate Program Director for review and approval. Upon the director's approval, the form is then sent to the Office of the School of Graduate Studies Dean. For doctoral students who have passed the qualifying examinations (post-qualifying), the **Application for Restoration of Active Status** and forward it to the Graduate Program Director for review and approval.

Readmission into the degree program is not automatic. For example, faculty will consider the student's prior performance in deciding whether to recommend readmission and the extent to which the student has articulated a plan of action to continue the program successfully. In addition, if the student is granted readmission to the program, they will receive further instructions on the required tuition payment, which may be a minimum of 1 credit of in-state tuition at the current rate per semester missed, up to a maximum of five semesters.

Registering for Independent Study in Higher Education

Independent studies are highly recommended elective options through which students obtain research experience prior to conducting the dissertation. Students identify a faculty member to undertake the independent study and then submit the completed, approved **Ph.D. in Higher Education Independent Study Contract Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program

Coordinator. Upon approval you will be registered by the Office of Student and Academic Services.

An independent study may be taken during the fall, spring, or summer semester. No more than six credits of Independent Study in Higher Education may be taken as elective coursework. This course is letter graded. In addition, each Independent Study in Higher Education Contract must specify the number of credits appropriate to the contracted project(s): 1 credit = 40 project hours, 2 credits = 80 project hours, 3 credits = 120 project hours.

Registering for Field Experience in Higher Education

Field Experience in Higher Education allows students to learn from a hands-on experience. With the permission of their faculty advisor, students will identify a site supervisor who is interested in offering a practicum experience that is project-oriented and provides professional development opportunities. The student then submits the completed, approved **Ph.D. in Higher Education Field Experience in Higher Education Contract Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator. Upon approval you will be registered by the Office of Student and Academic Services.

Field Experience may be taken during the fall, spring, or summer semester. This course is letter-graded. This course is graded Satisfacorty (S) or Unsatisfactory(U). In addition, each Field Experience in Higher Education Contract must specify the number of credits appropriate to the contracted project(s): 1 credit = 40 project hours, 2 credits = 80 project hours, 3 credits = 120 project hours.

GRADING

Rutgers University's graduate-level grading system follows.

| Α | Outstanding | 4.0 |
|----|--------------|-----|
| B+ | | 3.5 |
| В | Good | 3.0 |
| C+ | | 2.5 |
| С | Satisfactory | 2.0 |
| F | Failing | 0.0 |

All coursework meant to apply to the Ph.D. in Higher Education, except **Research in Higher Education** and **Field Experience in Higher Education** credits, must be graded on an A-F scale (above).

Other grades include:

IN (Incomplete): May be assigned at the discretion of an instructor who believes that an extension of time is warranted for a student whose work is incomplete at the end of the semester. The instructor may authorize a grade change for up to two years after the IN grade was assigned. After two years, a grade of IN is automatically changed to No Credit. Students must ordinarily initiate the request for an Incomplete grade with the instructor(s) of the course(s).

All Incomplete grades must be resolved <u>prior to scheduling</u> the Qualifying Examination. Students requesting an exception to this policy must submit relevant rationale(s) in writing to the Graduate Program Director and documentation of support for the requested exception from all members of the Qualifying Examination committee.

S/U (Satisfactory/Unsatisfactory): Satisfactory is equivalent to an A, B+, B, C+, or C. Unsatisfactory is equivalent to an F. **Research in Higher Education** and **Field Experience in Higher Education** are graded S/U.

P/NC (Pass/No Credit): Pass is equivalent to an A, B+, B, C+. or C; No Credit is equivalent to an F.

TZ (Temporarily Not Graded): The TZ grade is assigned to students who never attended classes, stopped attending but did not officially withdraw, or were not graded by instructor(s).

SATISFACTORY ACADEMIC PROGRESS POLICY

Cumulative GPA

To maintain satisfactory academic progress, the cumulative GPA at any point during program enrollment must meet or exceed 3.25/4.00. Cumulative GPA for students holding Rutgers fellowships or assistantships must meet or exceed 3.50/4.00 during all terms of enrollment.

Students admitted into the degree program conditionally must first satisfactorily meet all enrollment and/or GPA conditions specified; subsequently, a 3.25/4.00 cumulative GPA is required during all terms of enrollment. Students' satisfactory progress will be formally assessed and documented at least once/year in collaboration with the student, the faculty advisor, and the Graduate Program Director.

Posting a cumulative GPA below 3.25/4.00 shall result in academic probation and a written warning. In consultation with the student and the Graduate Program Director, the faculty advisor will formulate an individual improvement plan that includes actions and the deadline by which the student must demonstrate satisfactory academic progress. Student appeals or requests for an exception to the minimum cumulative GPA requirement may be initiated in consultation with the faculty advisor and must include supporting rationale(s). The appeal should be submitted to the Graduate Program Director. Please review the Appeals Process section for more information regarding the process.

Grades of "C" or lower

Earning one grade of C or lower in any course counted toward Ph.D. in Higher Education credits will result in a written warning and academic probation. Earning two grades of C or lower in any courses counted toward Ph.D. in Higher Education credits will ordinarily result in a second academic warning and recommendation for academic dismissal. Student appeals or requests for an exception to the policy on grades of C or lower may be initiated in consultation with the faculty advisor(s) and must include supporting rationale(s). The appeal should be first submitted to the Graduate Program Director. Please review the Appeals Process section for more information regarding the process.

TRANSFERRING PRIOR GRADUATE COURSEWORK

Eligible Courses for Transfer

Graduate courses completed prior to beginning the Ph.D. Higher Education as a matriculated student to the program *may* be accepted for credit toward a doctorate at Rutgers University if they meet the following three conditions:

- 1. The courses typically form part of the student's concentration or area of study.
- 2. The courses must have been completed within the preceding six years.
- 3. Students must have earned a grade of B or better in the courses.

Eligible courses for transfer include courses used to complete a graduate degree and/or courses taken prior to formal matriculation into the Ph.D. Higher Education program as a non-matriculated student.

The maximum number of transfer credits is 50% of the total required course credits for their program. For students in the Ph.D. in Higher Education Program, the maximum number of credits is 24.

Graduate credits that cannot be transferred include:

- Credits earned in thesis-related work;
- Independent study coursework; and
- Courses with grades lower than B.
- Courses taken over six years prior to the application for transfer credit without an approved appeal to the Graduate Program Director.

SGS will accept up to six credits of graduate work taken as a Rutgers undergraduate toward the requirements for a graduate degree. These credits must be in excess of 120 credits submitted for the bachelor's degree. If a Rutgers school requires more than 120 credits for the bachelor's degree, six credits above 120 may be double-counted toward the two degrees. Each degree program shall have *full discretion* in deciding whether to accept credits earned while an undergraduate toward a graduate degree. The SGS Dean or the Dean's designee shall use discretion to allow double-counting of an additional three credits in exceptional circumstances. An exception to the requirement that the credits being accepted be graduate credits may be made if the undergraduate course(s) in question would typically be part of the curriculum of the graduate degree program.

Applying for Transfer of Credit

Students should discuss the courses they are interested in transferring with their faculty advisor. After completing nine credits earned with a B or better as a matriculated student in the Ph.D. Higher Education program, students should prepare the following:

- **Official transcripts** for transfer courses completed outside of Rutgers
- □ **HE Plan of Study** that includes where transfer courses will be applied to complete program requirements, and
- □ SGS Application for Transfer of Credit.
- □ Appeal Statement for courses that have been <u>completed more than six years from the</u> <u>date of application</u>. The statement should be addressed to the Gradaute Program Director and state how **each** course's content informs the student's areas of study and the extent to which the course content (readings, assignments) are still relevant today.

Steps for submission and review.

- 1. Students should first submit these documents to their faculty advisor for review. The faculty advisor may request for the student to submit course syllabi for their review.
- 2. After faculty advisor approval, students will then submit their documents to the-Graduate Program Director for their approval and signature. If applicable, the Graduate Program Director will review the **Appeals Statement** for approval. If they approve the appeal, they will write a letter endorsing the appeal of the six year limit to the School of Graduate Studies and add it to the student's transfer application.
- 3. The student will submit all the documents (official transcripts, HE Plan of Study, SGS Appliction for Transfer of Credit, and letter of appeal if applicable) to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator. They will update the student's academic file and then deliver the appropriate documents to the School of Graduate Studies.

THE QUALIFYING EXAMINATION

Purposes of the Qualifying Examination

The qualifying examination provides an opportunity for students to demonstrate that they have attained a broad base of knowledge and research expertise in an area of inquiry within the field of higher education and to confirm that students are appropriately prepared to undertake and successfully complete the dissertation. Specifically, students should demonstrate:

- 1. Command of broad higher education literature and particularly literature of their area of focus (e.g., governance; finance; diversity, equity, and inclusion; history; leadership; academic affairs; student affairs; the student experience, etc.)
- 2. Concentrated understanding of the research area (or specific topic) they intend to pursue in the dissertation.
- 3. Concentrated understanding of discursive norms, theories, methods, and methodological considerations relevant to their research area or topic (e.g., experimental, quasi-experimental, design-based research, ethnography, phenomenology, critical theory, historical analysis, discourse analysis, etc.).

All Incomplete grades must be resolved <u>prior to scheduling</u> the Qualifying Examination. Students requesting an exception to this policy must submit relevant rationale(s) in writing to the Graduate Program Director along with documentation of support for the requested exception from all members of the Qualifying Examination committee.

Structure of the Qualifying Examination

The qualifying examination has both a written and an oral component. The written examination must precede the oral examination. To achieve qualifying status, students must pass all portions of the qualifying examination.

Scheduling of the Qualifying Examination

To allow for adequate preparation time, the student should consult with the faculty advisor, who will serve as the qualifying examination committee chair, <u>at least two semesters in advance</u> of when they wish to take the qualifying examination. The student should plan with their advisor a timeline, including the dates for submission of documents for review (see below) and the date they wish to receive the written exam.

The Qualifying Examination Process

The following steps are intended to ensure a level of rigor appropriate to the purposes outlined above and ensure an appropriate level of consistency among all students taking qualifying exams within the program.

- 1. **Develop a <u>Statement of Interest</u>**. The student will write a brief (2–3 pages) description of their area of research interest and outline the general direction anticipated for the dissertation. The statement of interest must be reviewed and approved by the faculty advisor prior to the committee's formation.
- 2. Develop a <u>Reading List.</u> With the advisor's guidance, the student will develop a comprehensive reading list that provides a foundation for the qualifying examination's dissertation-related portion(s). These readings may include readings from coursework but should consist of in-depth readings that, in combination, serve to advance Purposes 1-3 listed above. The proposed reading list will be shared with the prospective committee members, and appointed committee members may provide feedback and suggestions for additional or alternate readings. This tailoring of the Reading List can be, but need not be, addressed via a committee meeting with the student. The Reading List should include approximately 40 works, including readings from prior coursework. The qualifying examination committee must approve the final Reading List.
- 3. Assemble a <u>Qualifying Examination Committee</u>. The qualifying examination committee consists of a minimum of three Ph.D. in Higher Education program faculty members. An additional external committee member (external to the Higher Education program faculty) is recommended but not required. Additional committee members may join the qualifying examination committee at the discretion of the Chair and the student. All qualifying examination committee members must meet SGS eligibility requirements for committee service. The faculty advisor (as committee chair), in consultation with the student, will identify rationales for the selection of each committee member (e.g., relevant content expertise, methodological expertise, etc.). Prospective committee members will be invited to serve by the advisor, who will forward the student's Statement of Interest and Reading List to these individuals. Committee members should respond to committee invitations within one week.

The qualifying examination committee members <u>may</u> also serve on the student's dissertation committee, but it is not required. Once a student is admitted to candidacy, the qualifying examination committee dissolves.

4. **Prepare your paperwork.** Once committee membership is finalized, the student completes Part I of the School of Graduate Studies' **Application for Admission to Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.** The student will have this form ready

to distribute at the oral defense, to obtain signatures from the committee. The student will also need to fill out the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Oral Examination Results (Qualifying Exam) Form** immediately following their oral defense.

Developing the Written Examination Questions

Under the advisor's leadership, the committee will develop and approve questions for the student. The student's advisor determines the number of questions in consultation with committee members. Ordinarily, the student will respond to three questions, each of which entails a response of 10–15 double-spaced pages, excluding reference lists. Committees may exercise discretion in designing questions such that one question may require more writing than another, and the student must be informed well in advance of differential expectations for response length. In all cases, responses to the written examination questions should total no more than 45 double-spaced pages, excluding reference lists. Responses must cite relevant literature sources, and all references to those sources must be formatted using APA style. Ordinarily but not necessarily, one qualifying examination question will consist of a complex higher education case study requiring the student's analyses and action plans with supporting references from core higher education courses.

Completing the Written Examination - Timeline

Students have 21 calendar days to complete the examination. Students submit copies of their written responses to each committee member by the end of that period, in the form requested by each committee member (e.g., electronic files, paper copies, etc.). If the advisor determines that extenuating circumstances warrant an extension of the original time period (e.g., medical or family emergencies), the advisor should send to the Graduate Program Director a brief petition for extending the deadline with supporting rationale(s) and a proposed new deadline date. The Graduate Program Director will approve or deny the petition within two business days; a denial must include supporting rationale(s). The advisor must not use an extension to increase the written examination's scope and/or demands. Similarly, the student may not request an extension simply to gain additional time to complete the written examination.

Evaluation of the Written Examination Responses

The committee members will review the student's responses and share their initial assessments of the student's responses with the student's advisor. This review process ordinarily concludes no more than 21 days (excluding university holidays) after the written examination submission deadline. Through the use of programs or software such as Turnitin, students' written examination responses may be analyzed for originality during this evaluation period.

The Oral Examination

The oral examination is an opportunity for committee members to question the student about the written examination responses, ask additional questions relevant to the student's selected area of study, and confirm the student's command of applicable research methodologies and methods. Upon consultation with the advisor, the student will schedule a committee meeting for the oral examination no later than 21 days (excluding university holiday(s)) after the evaluation process above.

During the oral examination, students will:

- 1. Demonstrate command of broad higher education literature and particularly literature relevant to their area of focus (e.g., governance; finance; diversity, equity, and inclusion; history; leadership; academic affairs; student affairs; the student experience, etc.)
- 2. Demonstrate a concentrated understanding of the research area (or specific topic) they intend to pursue in the dissertation.
- 3. Demonstrate concentrated understanding of discursive norms, theories, methods, and methodological issues relevant to their research area or topic (e.g., experimental, quasi-experimental, design-based research, ethnography, phenomenology, critical theory, historical analysis, discourse analysis, etc.).
- 4. Demonstrate requisite knowledge and methodological expertise to undertake dissertation research.
- 5. Successfully clarify or elaborate on responses to the written examination questions.
- 6. Demonstrate knowledge of topics relevant to the area of study that may not have been addressed in the written examination.
- 7. Engage in academic discourse--effectively responding to committee members' questions and comments.

NOTE: Students are strongly discouraged from bringing refreshments or gifts of any kind to committee meetings.

Decision Process and Available Outcomes

The qualifying examination committee will ordinarily reach their decision immediately following the oral examination. Toward the end of the oral examination, the committee - under the committee chair's leadership--will evaluate the student's performance on the entire qualifying examination (the student will have been excused from the room prior to these deliberations). The decision represents the committee's holistic judgment. The student will be invited back into the room to receive the committee's decision and input or feedback from committee members.

<u>Pass</u>

A *Pass* decision signifies that the student has performed satisfactorily on the qualifying examination and will be advanced to doctoral candidacy.

Non-Pass with Revisions

If the committee determines that performance on either the written examination or the oral examination--or both--is unsatisfactory, the student will not have demonstrated readiness for doctoral candidacy, and the committee decision will be *Non-Pass with Revisions*. This

signifies that revisions and/or a repeat of some aspect(s) of the qualifying examination are warranted.

With input from committee members, the committee chair provides clear directions for revision and provides the student and the Graduate Program Director a summary rationale for the *Non-Pass with Revisions* decision plus recommendations for revision. Students will have 14 calendar days to complete all revisions. If the committee decides that a second oral examination is required, this meeting must be held no later than 14 days following the student's submission of the revisions.

Students who receive a *Non-Pass with Revisions* will also receive a written warning from the Graduate Program Director. In addition to summarizing the qualifying exam's committee's recommendations for revisions, the warning letter will include additional recommendations to support their academic progress and an overview of the appeals processes for both the Ph.D. Higher Education program and the School of Graduate Studies.

Non-Pass

If student performance on the second round of the qualifying examination is unsatisfactory, the committee decision will be *Non-Pass*. As a result, the student will not be advanced to doctoral candidacy. A decision of *Non-Pass with Revisions* is unavailable to the committee as an option in the second round of the qualifying examination.

Students who receive a *Non-Pass* will receive a second written warning and recommendation for dismissal from the Graduate Program Director. The second warning letter will include an overview of the appeals processes for both the Ph.D. Higher Education program and the School of Graduate Studies.

If the student wishes to earn a terminal M.A. in Higher Education after receiving a *Non-Pass*, a thesis-style project must be completed under the supervision of their faculty advisor. Please refer to "Earning the M.A. in Higher Education" section of the Handbook for more information. **Appealing the Committee's Decision/Recommendation**

A student may appeal a <u>Non-Pass</u> (but not a Non-Pass with Revisions) decision in writing to the Graduate Program Director no later than 14 calendar days following the committee's Non-Pass decision. Appeals must be limited to process issues, not the committee's decision of Non-Pass. If the appeal is denied, students may appeal to the School of Graduate Studies. Please refer to the "Appeals Process" section in the Handbook for more information.

Submission of Qualifying Examination Paperwork

After the conclusion of the initial oral examination, the following paperwork needs to be completed and submitted to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator, cc to the Graduate Program Director. The Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator will submit the appropriate documents to the School of Graduate Studies on the student's behalf and update the student's academic records.

□ **Ph.D. in Higher Education Oral Examination Results (Qualifying Exam) Form**. The Chair will indicate the committee's decision (<u>Pass</u> or <u>Non-Pass with Revisions</u>) and write up a summary that explains the committee's decision. This form must be submitted to the

Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator *within two business days after the oral defense.*

- □ A single .pdf file consisting of the following:
 - Statement of Interest
 - Reading List
 - The Qualifying Examination questions
 - The student's written examination responses
- □ (If the student earns a Pass) The completed **Application for Admission to Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Form** with signatures from the qualifying exam committee and Graduate Program Director in the appropriate designation.

After the conclusion of revisions (and second oral defense if applicable), the following paperwork needs to be completed and submitted to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator.

- Ph.D. in Higher Education Oral Examination Results (Qualifying Exam) Form. The Chair will indicate the committee's decision (Pass or Non-Pass) and write up a summary that explains the committee's decision. This form must be submitted to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator within two business days after the oral defense.
- □ A single .pdf file consisting of the following:
 - Statement of Interest
 - Reading List
 - The Qualifying Examination questions
 - The student's written examination initial responses and revisions
- □ The completed **Application for Admission to Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Form** with signatures from the qualifying exam committee and Graduate Program Director in the appropriate designation.

THE DISSERTATION PROCESS

Forming the Dissertation Committee

After successfully completing the qualifying examination, candidates will form their dissertation committees, consisting of:

- **A chair**, who is a full member of the Higher Education program faculty, OR two co-chairs, where an associate member and a full member of the Higher Education program faculty may co-chair with the full member serving as the administrative point of contact.
- At least **two additional committee members** who are full or associate members of the Higher Education program faculty, and
- At least one committee member external to the Higher Education program faculty. All prospective external committee members should be full members of the graduate faculty at Rutgers University or their home institutions. The candidate may petition the committee chair and Graduate Program Director for an exception if a proposed external committee member does not meet the above requirement.

All prospective committee members must meet SGS eligibility requirements for committee service.

Immediately following the formation of the dissertation committee, the candidate must submit the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Dissertation Committee Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator.

Developing the Dissertation Proposal

Ordinarily, candidates should enroll in the **Research and Dissertation Seminar** after successfully completing the qualifying examination process. In close collaboration with their respective faculty advisors, candidates will ordinarily write a full draft of their dissertation proposals OR contract with the seminar instructor to submit alternate written work appropriate to the candidate's stage in the dissertation process.

Dissertation Proposal Defense

Schedule the Proposal Defense

Once the dissertation committee chair determines that the dissertation proposal is in final draft form, the candidate consults with the chair to schedule a proposal defense meeting at which all members of the committee are present. <u>No later than three weeks prior</u> to the dissertation proposal defense meeting, the candidate must:

- Submit **Ph.D. in Higher Education Dissertation Proposal Announcement Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator. They will announce the dissertation proposal defense meeting to the larger academic community. The announcement must be made no later than two weeks prior to the dissertation proposal defense meeting.
- Provide each committee member a copy of the dissertation proposal.

Proposal Defense Meeting(s)

During the proposal defense meeting, candidates are expected to discuss their dissertation proposal and respond to committee members' questions and critiques. Committee members' input is offered to strengthen the proposal, and ordinarily, the Chair will take the lead in working with the candidate to make appropriate revisions. Toward the end of the proposal defense meeting, the candidate and any guests will be excused from the room, and committee members will vote to:

- Accept the proposal,
- Accept the proposal with minor revisions, OR
- Recommend major revisions followed by a second proposal defense meeting.

The candidate will submit the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Oral Examination Results** (**Proposal) Form** within two business days from dissertation proposal defense to the Ph.D Higher Education Program Coordinator.

Second Defense Meeting

A candidate may have a maximum of two proposal defense committee meetings. The second dissertation proposal defense meeting, if warranted, should be scheduled within one academic

term of the first dissertation proposal defense meeting. No later than three weeks prior to the second proposal defense meeting, the candidate must resubmit the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Dissertation Proposal Announcement Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator and distribute the revised proposal to committee members. The candidate, no later than two business days after the the second defense, will submit a second **Ph.D. in Higher Education Program Coordinator Coor**

Dissertation Development – Write-up and Coursework

As candidates write the dissertation and, in advance of the dissertation defense meeting, they should share draft chapters with members of the dissertation committee that the committee chair has approved for distribution. Candidates will work with their committee chair to address committee members' feedback and input on the dissertation before the dissertation defense meeting.

Candidates must complete a minimum of 24 credit hours of Dissertation Research. During the completion of these 24 credits, candidates should meet regularly with the committee chair (faculty advisor) to ensure timely and appropriate progress. In addition, the candidate will continue to complete and submit the HE EOY Student Progress Report each spring and meet with the advisor at least twice per academic year to document progress to date, goals, and resources.

Dissertation Defense

Scheduling the Defense

Once the committee chair judges the entire dissertation to be in final draft form, the candidate will schedule a dissertation defense meeting at which all members of the committee are present. Academic community members and guests may also attend the presentation portion of the dissertation defense.

No later than three weeks prior to the dissertation defense, the candidate must:

- Submit Ph.D. in Higher Education Dissertation Defense Announcement Form to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator, who will distribute an announcement to the larger academic community. The announcement must be made no later than two weeks prior to the dissertation defense meeting.
- Provide each committee member a copy of the complete dissertation.

During the three weeks before the dissertation defense, if a committee member identifies minor concerns or problems, the committee member may contact the candidate and/or Chair prior to the scheduled dissertation defense meeting *or* raise the concerns at the dissertation defense. If a committee member identifies substantive, fundamental problems, the committee member should first contact the committee chair, who will, in consultation with committee members, determine any necessary strategies to address major concerns or problems. At the Chair's discretion, the candidate may be required to postpone the dissertation defense, revise the dissertation, and reschedule the dissertation defense once major concerns and problems have been addressed. <u>No later than three weeks prior</u> to the rescheduled dissertation defense, the candidate must:

- Submit **Ph.D. in Higher Education Dissertation Proposal Announcement Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator, who will distribute an announcement to the larger academic community. The announcement must be made no later than two weeks prior to the dissertation defense meeting.
- Provide each committee member a copy of the full, revised dissertation.

The Dissertation Defense Meeting

During the dissertation defense meeting, the candidate should present a relatively brief overview of their research to the committee, other academic community members, and guests. The candidate will first respond to any questions and comments from visiting academic community members. After the candidate has addressed those questions, all visitors will be asked to leave the meeting while the committee examines the candidate. Once all questions have been addressed, the candidate will leave the meeting while the committee deliberates. When a decision is made, the candidate is invited into the meeting to receive the outcome of their defense.

At this point, if the decision is

PASS: No Revisions

Each committee member signs the *Title Page* prepared by the candidate. Within two business days of the dissertation defense, the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Oral Examination Results (Defese) Form** and the **SGS Application for Admission to Candidacy Form** must be submitted to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator. They will subsequently deliver the completed **SGS Application for Admission to Candidacy Form** to the SGS Dean's Office.

PASS: Minor Revisions or PASS: Major Revisions

Within two business days of the dissertation defense, the **Ph.D. in Higher Education Oral Examination Results (Defese) Form** must be submitted to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator.

The student will work with their dissertation chair to clarify the required revisions and the process and timeline for submitting the revisions for final review. The dissertation chair may hold on to the Title Page and not sign until their final approval of revisions.

Once the revisions are approved, the student will subsequently deliver the completed **SGS Application for Admission to Candidacy Form** to the Ph.D. Higher Education Program Coordinator. They will subsequently deliver the completed **SGS Application for Admission to Candidacy Form** to the SGS Dean's Office.

COURSE EVALUATIONS AND STUDENT PROGRESS EVALUATIONS

Rutgers course evaluations will be administered online toward the end of each semester. In addition to the standard questions, program-specific questions may also appear on the course

evaluation. Therefore, students are strongly encouraged to complete detailed course evaluations at the end of each semester.

Individual Development Plans are due each year by mid-spring semester. After submitting the the form online, the student's faculty advisor is notified that the IDP is ready for their review and approval. Students must meet with their advisors to go over the plan: coursework, accomplishments, goals, plans, and available resources. After the IDP is reviewed and approved by the advisor, it is routed to the Graduate Program Director. Failure to submit the IDP may result in a hold being placed on registration for future academic term(s).

DOCTORAL STUDENT SUPPORT

STUDENT FINANCIAL SUPPORT

Graduate Fellowships *#%

All applicants applying for full-time enrollment are automatically considered by the Ph.D. in Higher Education Program Faculty for fellowships. These Graduate Fellowships may be offered by the Graduate School of Education, the Office of the Vice Chancellor of Academic Affairs, or another Office at Rutgers. Some Graduate Fellowships are exclusively provided to incoming students for recruitment and are supported by the School of Graduate Studies.

The Graduate Fellowship includes a stipend, tuition remission, and healthcare benefits. Generally, these awards require no specific duties beyond the expectation that students will enroll as full-time students (9 credit minimum) and make appropriate progress as measured by performance in coursework, completion of degree requirements, involvement in the GSE community, and the development of a program of research that leads to a successful dissertation.

Graduate Fellows may not hold full-time employment. However, they may secure part-time employment with the approval of their faculty advisor so long as the work does not interfere with their academic progress and is related to their development as researchers.

Graduate Assistantships *#%

Offices and Programs may offer a Graduate Assistant (GA) position at Rutgers University in areas such as Graduate Studies, Academic Affairs, Student Affairs, or research centers. GAships may also come from research funds from professors' grants and contracts. Students work 15 hours per week during the academic year. Students receive a stipend, health insurance, and other benefits. Students may be notified of available opportunities by the Graduate Program Director.

Teaching *#%

There are opportunities to teach undergraduate courses. Students may be notified about opportunities via the *Weekly News*, the Ph.D. Higher Education program newsletter. Compensation is based on the number of course credit hours.

Grants and Fellowships for Continuing Students

A variety of other funding sources are available for currently enrolled students. Following is a list of grants and fellowships students may wish to pursue:

- GSE Scholarships *#%: Generous alumni and friends have established and continue to donate to more than one dozen fellowships and scholarships. Learn more about GSE's fellowships and scholarships and the donors who established them at https://gse.rutgers.edu/tuition/. Deadline: February
- NAEd/Spencer Dissertation Fellowship Program *#%: https://naeducation.org/naedspencer-dissertation-fellowship-program/
- School of Graduate Studies' University and Bevier Dissertation Completion Fellowship *#%: Fellowship support for students in their final year of dissertation work https://grad.rutgers.edu/funding/fellowships-grants
- **Paul and Daisy Soros Fellowship for New Americans** *#%: Scholarship for those applying to graduate school or in their first year, 30 years old or younger, and be first- or second-generation immigrant. <u>https://www.pdsoros.org/</u> Deadline: October
- **GradFund** *#%+: Support for seeking fellowships and scholarships for continuing students. Services include appointments with advisors to help prepare applications for fellowships and fellowship/grant searches: https://gradfund.rutgers.edu/
- **Travel grants** *#%: Offered by School of Graduate Studies and GSE Student Affairs Committee (GSAC) to support travel to academic conferences.
 - School of Graduate Studies: <u>https://grad.rutgers.edu/funding/conference-travel-</u><u>funding</u>
 - o GSAC: https://sites.google.com/scarletmail.rutgers.edu/gsac/funding
- Rutgers Financial Aid office *#%+: https://scarlethub.rutgers.edu/financial-services/

Eligibility index

- * U.S. Citizens # International students % DACA students
- + undocumented students

Tuition Bill Payment

Prior to the start of each semester, tuition bills are available online by accessing this <u>link</u> and entering NetID and password. The GSE Business Office (first floor in the GSE) processes fellowship, scholarship, and tuition remission awards. Students will then submit paperwork to the Office of Student Accounting (located in Records Hall). For more information regarding tuition and fees, click <u>here</u>. Be sure to complete the online "R U Here?" form each academic term.

Student Health Insurance

Full-time students will automatically pay a fee for Rutgers University Health Services and BASIC insurance. Part-time students may elect to pay for student health insurance. Regardless of the number of credits enrolled, all international students automatically have BASIC and MAJOR

health insurance added to their term bills. For more information about student health insurance, please visit the <u>website</u>.

GRIEVANCES AND APPEALS

It is critical for students to know who they can reach out to if they experience issues or concerns about a faculty member, staff member, or fellow student. Depending on the issue and the parties involved, there are specific offices to contact and procedures to follow.

At any point in the process, students are welcome to contact Barbara Bender, Senior Associate Dean for Academic Support and Graduate Student Services. They can discuss their concerns and the options available confidentially.

Academic Appeals

Students who believe their work (i.e., final grade, evaluation of their qualifying exam) has been evaluated unfairly or incorrectly should

- 1. discuss the matter with the faculty member(s) in question, and then, if the matter cannot be resolved to the student's satisfaction,
- 2. appeal in writing to the Graduate Program Director.

If the Graduate Program Director does not resolve the matter to the satisfaction of the student and/or the faculty member(s) in question, the matter shall be referred to the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee can either address the issue or ask the Graduate Program Director to constitute an ad hoc Committee of Review to resolve the issue. If the matter remains unresolved to the satisfaction of the student and/or faculty member(s) involved, it must be referred to the Dean of the SGS for final determination.

According to the School of Graduate Studies (<u>https://grad.rutgers.edu/current-students/policies-procedures-students)</u>, the appeals process is described in the following:

In the case of a recommendation to dismiss a student or any other academic disagreement that cannot be resolved within the appeals process established by the program, students may appeal to the School of Graduate Studies. Appeals will be sent to the SGS Dean who may delegate a process of initial review to one or more senior academic deans within SGS. If initial review is not undertaken or fails to resolve the dispute, the student may file a formal appeal with SGS, which will be considered by the SGS Appeals committee according to the procedures specified in the SGS bylaws. Appeals must be filed no later than one semester following the occurrence of the issue that prompted the appeal.

In the matter of appealing the final evaluation of the qualifying exam, there are specific steps regarding the process and timeline. Please refer to "Appealing the Committee's Decision" for more information.

Grievances

Students who experience or witness misconduct from a faculty, staff, or fellow student have the option to report the incident. The report may be filed anonymously and does not immediately rise to the status of a formal complaint until it is reviewed and deemed a serious offense requiring investigation.

There are different offices for students to report an incident depending on the type of misconduct and whether the accused is faculty, staff, or student. The following table identifies the appropriate office for students to contact depending on the type of grievance and who is accused of misconduct.

| Type of Misconduct | Accused | Office to Report Incident |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---|
| Sexual harassment or misconduct | Faculty Staff Student | Student Affairs Compliance and Title IX https://nbtitleix.rutgers.edu/ |
| Discrimination or harassment | Faculty Staff | University Human Resources https://uhr.rutgers.edu/forms/discrimination- harassment-complaint |
| | Student | Office of Student Conduct https://studentconduct.rutgers.edu/ |
| Academic Integrity | Student | Office of Student Conduct https://studentconduct.rutgers.edu/ |

STUDENT FAQs

How do I find research opportunities?

Program-level emails to students and faculty may include research opportunities. It is up to the student to speak with their advisor, make their interests known, and search for opportunities. Meeting with HE program faculty members is a good starting point. Review the program faculty members' online profiles and CVs and set up a meeting to discuss potential research opportunities. Faculty without current opportunities may refer students to other faculty members for further exploration. You may review profiles of faculty members in other Rutgers departments or programs and reach out individually if you identify shared research interests or areas of expertise. Other HE students may refer newer students to promising opportunities or possibilities. Finally, consult networks to identify research opportunities. Conferences are excellent sources of information about current research and to connect with others who may be seeking research partnerships.

If I want to switch advisors, when is an appropriate time, and how do I do this?

Students may change faculty advisors at any time following conversations and mutual agreement among the student, the current advisor, and the prospective advisor. No later than two weeks following any change of advisor, students must report the change to the Graduate

Program Director and the Ph.D. Higher Education administrative assistant using the GSE Change of Advisor form. Additionally, at two specific points during the Ph.D. in Higher Education program, students either change their faculty advisor or affirm their interest in continuing work with the current advisor: when constituting the qualifying examination committee and before commencing work on the dissertation proposal.

How do I find out which classes are being offered and when I should take them?

Consult the Rutgers online schedule of classes to discover courses offered for the upcoming semester(s). Ordinarily, the schedule is released around the halfway point of the current semester. The online schedule of classes also archives a list of courses offered during previous academic terms, which can help determine the frequency and availability of specific courses. The faculty advisor must approve all coursework intended to count toward the Ph.D. in Higher Education.

Like most doctoral programs, the Ph.D. in Higher Education is a highly individualized and tailored experience. No two students will likely take the same courses at the same time or begin (or complete) dissertation work at the same time. This is especially the case for students enrolled part-time in the degree program. Students should meet with their advisors at least once per academic term to discuss course planning, qualifying examination preparation and scheduling, and dissertation timelines.

Why are other students receiving different information and recommendations from their advisors regarding transfer coursework, course selection, etc.?

As mentioned above, doctoral programs are highly tailored to each student, so students should not necessarily expect the advice and direction they receive from their advisors to be the same as that received by other students with different advisors. In accordance with each student's background, skills, interests, goals, and needs, advisors may approve or deny or recommend different courses to different advisees.

How do I provide feedback and voice concerns regarding the program or my experiences?

Students should first discuss such items with the faculty advisor. The student or advisor may then reach out to the Graduate Program Director. If students have concerns regarding specific courses, they should visit directly with the instructor. Course instructors receive course evaluations after the semester is over, so students are encouraged to thoughtfully complete the evaluation for each course, providing feedback, input, and suggestions to the course instructor(s).

How do I manage my expectations of fellow students regarding cohesiveness, social engagement, support, or bonding?

Each entering group of students is comprised of part-time and full-time students with varying commitments and lives. While the program hosts some events such as the Seminar Series to promote interaction, it is up to students to cultivate meaningful relationships with fellow students. The expectations and desires for student-student relationships differ but could manifest as, for example, study groups, writing groups, research partnerships, sources of mutual support, or happy hour companions. Ideally, students will be supportive and receive support from their fellow students; Close friendships may or may not develop. If students are struggling with issues

or conflicts with one or more fellow students, the individuals involved should first attempt to address and discuss the concerns. The faculty advisor may provide information and suggestions to their advisees about negotiating challenging peer conversations.

RESEARCH AT RUTGERS UNIVERSITY

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL AND HUMAN SUBJECTS PROTECTION CERTIFICATION

Any research (including dissertation research) that involves data collection from individuals students, teachers, members of the public, etc.—requires approval from Rutgers University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) before *any* "human subjects" data are collected that will be used in *any* way. The Rutgers IRB is charged with protecting the rights and welfare of human research subjects while facilitating ethical research. The IRB is part of the Office of Research and Regulatory Affairs (ORRA). ORRA provides subject matter expertise and administrative support to the IRB committee itself, which is comprised mainly of Rutgers faculty who are active researchers. In addition, the IRB committee includes individuals with expertise who are not part of the Rutgers community, as required by the federal regulations governing research with humans. Review by the IRB committee is required for research involving human subjects regardless of the funding source and applies to human subjects research without a dedicated funding stream. Because students should be engaged in research throughout their graduate careers, they must understand Protection of Human Subjects policies and practices that guide IRB committees' decisions. Click <u>here</u> to find information on different types of approval, criteria for approval, and forms to be completed.

All Rutgers University faculty, students, and other individuals involved in human subjects research must complete the applicable Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI) Basic Course and complete the CITI Refresher Course every three (3) years thereafter. IRB officials will not issue final approval of certain IRB submissions (New / CR / Key Personnel Amends) until it is verified that listed study personnel have completed the current human subjects research education requirements. Email IRBOffice@research.rutgers.edu for assistance.

PH.D. IN HIGHER EDUCATION PROGRAM'S SEMINAR SERIES

Approximately twice per semester during the academic year, the Ph.D. in Higher Education Program hosts a speaker or panel to address a topic relevant to higher education. Refreshments are provided, and RSVPs are ordinarily required. Students and faculty are encouraged to attend these events.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS AND SCHOLARLY OPPORTUNITIES

Many regional, national, and international conferences featuring higher education research and scholarship are held throughout the year. Students are strongly encouraged to attend and present at these conferences. While there are dozens of scholarly and professional organizations and conferences, below are examples of major conferences and the months in which they ordinarily occur:

- Association for the Study of Higher Education (ASHE) Annual Meeting in November
- American Educational Research Association (AERA) Annual Meeting in April
- College Student Educators International (ACPA) Annual Meeting in March/April
- Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education (NASPA) Annual Meeting in March/April

Students should monitor the appropriate websites to learn of submission requirements and deadlines. Conference calls for proposals are ordinarily released, and submission deadlines are set several months before the actual conference.

Various scholarly opportunities (e.g., calls for proposals, calls for chapters, grant programs, scholarly leadership) are distributed to program faculty and students as they are received. Some of these opportunities may be conducive to an Independent Study in Higher Education or other pre-dissertation research projects.

DIRECTORY

HIGHER EDUCATION PROGRAM FACULTY

Full Members of the Program Faculty

Clark A. Chinn, Professor of Educational Psychology and Associate Dean for Research, Faculty Development and Research Outreach, GSE. Ph.D., Illinois (Urbana-Champaign)

Cara Cuite, Assistant Extension Specialist in Human Ecology, SEBS. Ph.D., Rutgers

Adrienne E. Eaton, Professor of Labor Studies and Employment Relations and Dean of the School of Management and Labor Relations, SMLR. Ph.D., Wisconsin

Nichole M. Garcia, Assistant Professor of Educational Psychology, GSE. Ph.D., California (Los Angeles)

Marybeth Gasman, Distinguished Professor and Samuel DeWitt Proctor Endowed Chair in Education, GSE. Ph.D., Indiana

Gary A. Gigliotti, Professor of Economics, SAS; Special Advisor Regarding Academic Assessment, Office of Teaching Evaluation and Assessment Research. Ph.D., Columbia

Ebelia Hernández, Associate Professor of Educational Psychology, GSE; Graduate Program Director, Ph.D. in Higher Education. Ph.D., Indiana

Benjamin Justice, Professor of Educational Theory, Policy and Administration, GSE. Ph.D., Stanford

Susan E. Lawrence, Professor of Political Science, SAS; Interim Executive Dean of the School of Arts and Sciences. Ph.D., Johns Hopkins

Barbara A. Lee, Distinguished Professor of Human Resource Management, SMLR. Ph.D., Ohio State, J.D., Georgetown

Beth L. Leech, Professor of Political Science, SAS. Ph.D., Texas A&M

Richard L. McCormick, Distinguished Professor of History and Education; President Emeritus. Ph.D., Yale

Angela M. O'Donnell, Professor and Chair of Educational Psychology, GSE. Ph.D., Texas Christian

Brent D. Ruben, Distinguished Professor of Communication, SC&I; Advisor for Strategy and Planning in the Office of the Executive Vice President for Academic Affairs; Senior University Fellow, Center for Organizational Leadership. Ph.D., Iowa

Beth C. Rubin, Professor of Educational Theory, Policy, and Administration, GSE. Ph.D., California (Berkeley)

Sharon Ryan, Distinguished Professor of Learning and Teaching, GSE. Ed.D., Columbia University.

Jorge Reina Schement, Distinguished Professor, SC&I. Ph.D., Stanford.

Tobias Schulze-Cleven, Associate Professor of Labor Studies and Employment Relations, SMLR; Co-Director, Center for Global Work and Employment.. Ph.D., California (Berkeley)

Susan J. Schurman, Distinguished Professor of Labor Studies and Employment Relations, SMLR. Ph.D., Michigan

Hana R. Shepherd, Associate Professor of Sociology, SAS. Ph.D., Princeton

Saundra M. Tomlinson-Clarke, Professor of Educational Psychology, GSE; Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs. Ph.D., Florida State

Carl E. Van Horn, Distinguished Professor of Public Policy, Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy; Director of the John J. Heldrich Center for Workforce Development. Ph.D., Ohio State

Associate Members of the Program Faculty

Barbara Bender, Senior Associate Dean for Academic Support and Graduate Student Success, School of Graduate Studies. Ed.D., Teachers' College, Columbia

Stephanie Brescia, Assistant Professor of Practice of Educational Psychology, GSE. Ph.D., Rutgers

Andrea Conklin Bueschel, Senior Vice President for Administration and Chief of Staff to the President. Ph.D., Stanford

Joan Collier, Director of Institutional Equity and Strategy Initiatives, Division of Diversity, Inclusion, and Community Engagement. Ph.D., Georgia

Monica Devanas, Director of Faculty Development and Assessment Programs, Office of Teaching Evaluation and Assessment Research. Ph.D., Rutgers

Ralph A. Gigliotti, Assistant Vice President for Strategic Programs, Office of University Strategy; Director, Rutgers Center for Organizational Leadership. Ph.D., Rutgers

Sanford M. Jaffee, Faculty Fellow (retired), Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy. L.L.B., Harvard Law School

Michael Klein, Rockefeller Institute Fellow. Ph.D., New York University

Lawrence Nespoli, President (retired), New Jersey Council of County Colleges. D.Ed., Pennsylvania State

Karen R. Stubaus, Vice President for Academic Affairs and Administration. Ph.D., Rutgers

Michelle Van Noy, Associate Director and Assistant Research Professor of Education and Employment Research Center, SMLR. Ph.D., Columbia

Dayna S. Weintraub, Director of Research and Assessment, Ph.D., California (Los Angeles)

Affiliate Members of the Program Faculty

Linda Stamato, Faculty Fellow Emeritus, Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy. M.A., Rutgers

PROGRAM, STAFF, AND ADMINISTRATIVE CONTACTS

Ph.D. in Higher Education Program

Ebelia Hernández, Graduate Program Directorebelia.hernandez@gse.rutguers.edu

School of Graduate Studies (SGS)

| Barbara Bender Senior Associate Dean for Academic Support and Graduate Student Services |
|---|
| Teresa Delcorso-Ellman Assistant Dean for Graduate Student External Support <u>delcorso@gradfund.rutgers.edu</u> |
| Allison Gradina Senior Program Coordinator for Degree Certification <u>allimera@grad.rutgers.edu</u> |
| Graduate School of Education (GSE) |
| Wanda J. Blanchett Distinguished Professor and Dean |
| Rhena Montero Department Administrator Supervisor, Dean's Office <u>rhena.montero@gse.rutgers.edu</u> |
| Matthew Winkler Assistant Dean for Advisement |
| KerriAnn Mattaliano Program Coordinator for Doctoral Programs |
| Joseph Howe Senior Director of Finance and Administration <u>joseph.howe@gse.rutgers.edu</u> |

| Vallarine Guischard-Paynter | |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Business Manager | vallarine.paynter@gse.rutgers.edu |

| Melissa Thomas | |
|-------------------|--------------------------------|
| Personnel Manager | melissa.thomas@gse.rutgers.edu |

Writing Programs

| Mark DiGiacomo | |
|---|-----------------------------------|
| Associate Executive Director of the Writing Program & | |
| Director of Graduate Writing | <u>mark.digiacomo@rutgers.edu</u> |

Division of Student Affairs

| Ghada Endick | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Assistant Dean, Graduate Student Life | <u>gendick@rutgers.edu</u> |